### Submitted to:

Naval Facilities Engineering Systems Command Atlantic under Contract N62470-15-8006, Task Order 20F4011 and Contract N62470-20-D-0016, Task Order 21F4005 issued to HDR, Inc.



### Prepared by

Jeanne M. Shearer<sup>1</sup>, Zachary T. Swaim<sup>1</sup>, Heather J. Foley<sup>1</sup> and Andrew J. Read<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Duke University Marine Laboratory 135 Duke Marine Lab Road, Beaufort, NC 28516



Submitted by:



Behavioral Responses of Humpback Whales to Approaching Ships in Virginia Beach, Virginia: 2020 Annual Progress Report

April 2021

#### **Suggested Citation:**

Shearer, J.M., Z.T. Swaim, H.J. Foley, and A.J. Read. 2021. *Behavioral Responses of Humpback Whales to Approaching Ships in Virginia Beach, Virginia: 2020 Annual Progress Report.* Prepared for U.S. Fleet Forces Command. Submitted to Naval Facilities Engineering Systems Command Atlantic, Norfolk, Virginia, under Contract N62470-15-8006, Task Order 20F4011, and Contract N62470-20-D-0016, Task Order 21F4005 issued to HDR Inc., Virginia Beach, Virginia. April 2021.

#### **Cover Photo Credit:**

Humpback whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) with DTAG near the shipping lanes. Photographed by Zach Swaim, Duke University, taken under General Authorization 16185 held by Andrew Read, Duke University.

This project is funded by U.S. Fleet Forces Command and managed by Naval Facilities Engineering Systems Command Atlantic as part of the U.S. Navy's marine species monitoring program.

### **Table of Contents**

Figu	resii
Tabl	esiv
Acro	onyms and Abbreviationsv
1.	Introduction1
2.	Methods3
2.1	1 STUDY AREA
2.2	2 DATA COLLECTION
	2.2.1 DTAG
	2.2.2 Focal Follow
	2.2.3 AIS
2.3	3 DATA ANALYSIS
	2.3.1 DTAG Processing
	2.3.2 Lunge detection
3.	Results8
	3.1.1 Vessel Survey Effort
	3.1.2 Humpback Whale Sightings
	3.1.3 DTAGs Deployed
	3.1.4 Animal and ship positions15
	3.1.5 Foraging behavior20
	3.1.6 Vocal behavior
4.	Discussion and Future Analysis29
5.	Acknowledgements
<b>6.</b>	Literature Cited

# Figures

Figure 1. Map of the Virginia Beach study area, including the shipping lanes into the area 3
Figure 2. The R/V Richard T. Barber 4
Figure 3. Example of three clear lunges from tag mn20_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. This figure covers 240 seconds to show the entire dive
Figure 4. Example of a rolling lunge from tag mn20_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. The broadband sound at 8790s appears to be the impact of the tag hitting the seafloor. This figure covers 160 seconds to show the entire dive
Figure 5. A potential lunge from tag mn20_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. Flownoise is masked by ship noise and the jerk signal is just over the threshold. This figure covers 100 seconds to show the entire dive
Figure 6. Survey tracks and locations of all sightings during humpback whale suction-cup tagging effort in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes study area in 2019/20
Figure 7. Tagging location and tag recovery location for all suction-cup deployments in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes study area in 2019/20. Each colored line represents the R/V Barber's track during the focal follow of the animal. Squares indicate locations of tagging and triangles indicate tag recovery locations
Figure 8. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_015a12
Figure 9. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_034a
Figure 10. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_040a
Figure 11. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_040b
Figure 12. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_053a. The whale appears to breach on the tag just after 3 hours into the deployment. The acceleration data after this point are highly unstable, indicating that the tag is being held by 1 or 2 suction cups
Figure 13. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20_054a
Figure 14. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_015a. Whale positions are derived from the focal-follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time
Figure 15. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_034a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing

and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time	.16
Figure 16. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_040a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and the animal were in the same location at the same time.	.17
Figure 17. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_040b. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time.	.18
Figure 18. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_053a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time.	.19
Figure 19. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20_054a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time.	20
Figure 20. Dive profile for mn19_008a with lunges overlaid.	
Figure 21. Dive profile for mn19_066a with lunges overlaid.	
Figure 22. Dive profile for mn20_015a with lunges overlaid. Shaded area indicates nighttime hours.	
Figure 23. Dive profile for mn20_034a with lunges overlaid. Vocalization start and stop times are also marked	.25
Figure 24. Dive profile for mn20_040a with lunges overlaid. Shaded area indicates nighttime hours	.25
Figure 25. Dive profile for mn20_040b with lunges overlaid	.26
Figure 26. Dive profile for mn20_053a with lunges overlaid. Shaded area indicates nighttime hours	.26
Figure 27. Dive profile for mn20_054a with lunges overlaid	.27
Figure 28. Spectrogram showing range of vocalizations by mn20_034a.	.28
Figure 29. Thirty minutes of dive profile and acceleration data for mn20_034a during its vocalizing period, in which the animal is pitched downward between -20 and -40	
degrees during the bottom portion of dives	.28

# Tables

Table 1. Vessel survey effort during suction-cup tagging in the Virginia Beach shipping         lanes study area in 2019-2020.	8
Table 2. Humpback whale sightings observed during suction-cup tagging in the VirginiaBeach shipping lanes study area in 2019–2020.	8
Table 3. Suction-cup tag information from deployments on humpback whales in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes study area in 2019–2020. Deployments mn20_040a and mn20_053a were on animals also tagged with satellite tags by HDR, Inc (PTT 180779 and 180778, respectively	10
Table 4. Lunge characteristics from clear lunges recorded from humpbacks tagged off thecoast of Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2019 and 2020	21
Table 5. Daytime and nighttime characteristics of lunges recorded from humpbacks taggedoff the coast of Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2020	21
Table 6. Characteristics of rolling lunges recorded from humpbacks tagged off the coast of Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2019 and 2020	22
Table 7. Daytime and nighttime characteristics of lunges recorded from humpback mn20_040a tagged off the coast of Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2020	23

# Acronyms and Abbreviations

- AIS Automatic Identification System
- CBBT Chesapeake Bay Bridge-Tunnel
- DTAG digital acoustic tag
- GPS Global Positioning System
- R/V research vessel
- U.S. United States

This page intentionally left blank.

### 1 1. Introduction

2 The western North Atlantic population of humpback whales is one of the most well-studied 3 populations of baleen whales, with long-term photo-identification studies dating back to the early 4 1970s (Katona et al. 1979). These whales breed and give birth in the Caribbean in winter 5 (Whitehead & Moore 1982) and little feeding occurs on the breeding grounds or on migration routes. 6 They travel thousands of kilometers (up to 7,000 kilometers; Stevick et al. 1999) from breeding 7 grounds to summer feeding areas that range from the Gulf of Maine to Norway. Individual whales 8 return to distinct feeding grounds each summer in the Gulf of Maine, Gulf of St. Lawrence, 9 Newfoundland, Greenland, Iceland, and Norway (Katona & Beard 1990; Stevick et al. 2003a, 2006). 10 There is little exchange between feeding grounds and individuals show high site fidelity both within 11 and between years (Clapham et al. 1993; Katona & Beard 1990; Stevick et al. 2006). However, 12 individuals from all of the feeding grounds have been seen in the Caribbean breeding grounds

13 (Stevick et al. 2003a).

14 These migratory patterns are the norm for most adults, but some humpback whales remain on

15 feeding grounds during winter (Christensen et al. 1992; Whitehead 1987). Since the early 1990s,

16 juvenile humpback whales have been documented feeding along the coasts of the mid-Atlantic

17 states in winter and increasing numbers of animals are using this area during the colder months

(Swingle et al. 1993, 2017; Wiley et al. 1995). Many of these humpbacks appeared to be young,
sexually immature animals based on estimates of body length (Barco et al. 2002; Swingle et al.

20 1993; Wiley et al. 1995). Photo-identification efforts have been ongoing since the mid-1990s and a

21 number of live and stranded animals in the mid-Atlantic have been matched to the Gulf of Maine

feeding aggregation, along with a few matches to other summer feeding aggregations (Barco et al.

23 2002). Animals have been re-sighted in the mid-Atlantic area in multiple years (Aschettino et al.

24 2018; Barco et al. 2002), and there are currently over 332 animals in the mid-Atlantic catalog

25 (Mallette and Barco, 2019). Results from satellite-tagging studies and photo-identification efforts

26 near Virginia Beach, Virginia, show that animals remain in this area for weeks to months, and their

distribution overlaps significantly with shipping lanes in the area (Aschettino et al. 2018, 2020).

28 Foraging behavior is evident from focal-follow observations of lunge feeding and defecation, and

29 state-space model-indicated Area Restricted Search behavior (Aschettino et al. 2020).

30 Ship-strike mortality is an important conservation issue for large whales, particularly in the highly 31 industrialized waters of the United States (U.S.) Atlantic Coast, which has the highest occurrence of 32 ship strikes in North America (Jensen & Silber 2004). The North Atlantic humpback whale population 33 is recovering from the effects of past commercial whaling, with population estimates increasing since 34 the 1980s (Katona & Beard 1990; Ruegg et al. 2013; Smith et al. 1999; Stevick et al. 2003b). 35 However, the pace of this recovery has been slowed by mortality caused by entanglement in fishing 36 gear and collisions with large vessels (Barco et al. 2002). Since January 2016 (through 8 January 37 2021), 145 humpback whales have stranded on the U.S. East Coast, causing the National Marine 38 Fisheries Service to declare an Unusual Mortality Event (NOAA 2019). One-third of these strandings 39 occurred in the mid-Atlantic and half of the animals that were examined post-mortem showed 40 evidence of ship strike or entanglement. In the Virginia Beach area, high rates of ship strikes have

41 been reported, with 8 percent of the catalog showing evidence of ship-strike injuries (Aschettino et

- 1 al. 2018, 2020). In addition, three animals added to the mid-Atlantic catalog in the winter of 2016/17 2 were later killed by collisions with ships (Aschettino et al. 2018).
- 3 Humpback whales in Virginia Beach are exposed constantly to ships. Hampton Roads (Virginia) is
- the 6<sup>th</sup> busiest port in the U.S. and Baltimore (Maryland) is the 16<sup>th</sup> busiest. Both ports are reached 4
- 5 via the shipping lanes that pass through the mouth of the Chesapeake Bay at Virginia Beach,
- 6 making these shipping lanes extraordinarily busy. This consistent exposure to ships could cause
- 7 animals to become habituated to ship approaches and, therefore, perhaps less responsive.
- 8 Habituation to vessel traffic has been documented by baleen whales in Cape Cod (Watkins 1986).
- 9 However, some types of abrupt, startling sounds may lead to sensitization, or an increased
- 10 sensitivity to the noise (Götz & Janik 2011). Humpback whales remain in the Virginia Beach area for
- 11 days to months, and have been re-sighted over multiple years (Aschettino et al. 2018). This
- 12 suggests that the disturbance from repeated ship exposures is not causing long-term displacement
- 13 but may put the whales at heightened risk of being struck, given multiple encounters. Theoretically,
- 14 animals are more likely to remain in good foraging areas even if they are risky, because the potential
- 15 to be gained from productive foraging outweighs the heightened risk (Christiansen & Lusseau 2014).
- 16 Therefore, responses may be short-lived and subtle, and require fine-scale sampling to detect.
- 17 Understanding the behavior of these animals around ships is critical to developing measures to
- 18 reduce the risk of ship strike mortality and promote the recovery of this population.
- 19 The objective of this work is to build upon the ongoing Mid-Atlantic Humpback Whale project
- 20 conducted under the U.S. Navy's Marine Species Monitoring Program by deploying high resolution
- 21 digital acoustic tags (DTAGs) to measure humpback whale responses to close ship approaches.
- 22 The following questions will be addressed:
- 23 1. Do humpback whales respond to ship approaches, and if so, which behavioral or movement 24 parameters change?
- 25 2. Which aspects of a ship approach (including the ship's acoustic and behavioral 26 characteristics) elicit which types of responses?
- 27 3. Does the behavioral context of the animal (foraging/nonforaging) affect the probability of 28 responding to a ship approach?
- 29
- 30 The first field season for this project began on 6 January 2019 and ended on 7 March 2019. Three 31 DTAGs were deployed during this pilot season and methodology was established.
- 32 The second field season for this project began on 2 January 2020 and ended on 25 February 2020.
- 33 Six DTAGs were deployed, including two on animals that were carrying satellite tags deployed by
- 34 HDR, Inc. One of these deployments was 25.5 hours long, marking the first overnight DTAG
- 35 deployment on a humpback whale in this area.
- 36 The third field season for this project is anticipated to run from January through march 2021.

# 1 2. Methods

### 2 2.1 Study Area

Fieldwork was conducted in the coastal waters off Virginia Beach, Virginia, less than 20 kilometers
from shore (Figure 1). The area is very shallow, with shipping lanes dredged to 50 feet
(approximately 20 meters deep) and areas outside the shipping lanes only 9 to 12 meters deep. Two
shipping lanes allow traffic to pass from the north and south, converging just east of the Chesapeake
Bay Bridge-Tunnel (CBBT). Large commercial ships follow designated channels through the CBBT
on their way to and from the ports of Hampton Roads (Virginia) and Baltimore, Maryland, and
military ships travel this way in and out of the world's largest naval station at Norfolk, Virginia.









### 1 2.2 Data Collection

2 Fieldwork operations were conducted from the 10-meter research vessel, the R/V Richard T. Barber 3 (Figure 2). During field operations, the team continually scanned for whales. We also employed 4 communications with the local whale-watch fleet and scientists from HDR Inc., who were conducting 5 satellite-tagging operations in the area, to locate whales. Environmental conditions were collected at 6 each sighting and both environmental conditions and sighting information were recorded on an iPad 7 tablet linked to a Global Positioning System (GPS) unit. During each sighting and tagging attempt, 8 photographs were taken for individual identification. Photographs of dorsal fins and flukes (when 9 possible) were taken with Canon or Nikon digital SLR cameras (equipped with 100- to 400-millimeter 10 zoom lenses) in 24-bit color at a resolution of 6,016 x 4,016 pixels and saved in .jpg format. These images were provided to colleagues at the Virginia Aquarium and Marine Science Center who curate 11 12 the mid-Atlantic humpback whale catalog.

13



14

15 Figure 2. The R/V Richard T. Barber.

### 16 2.2.1 DTAG

17 After suitable animals were located, we deployed digital sound and movement tags (DTAGs version

18 3) (Johnson & Tyack 2003). These tags record sounds via two hydrophones sampling at 120 or 240

19 kilohertz, and movement with triaxial accelerometers and magnetometers sampling at 250 Hertz.

- 20 They are attached via suction cup and deployed with a 5-meter carbon fiber pole. Tags were
- 21 programmed to remain on the animal for a period of several hours. To facilitate retrieval of the tag
- 22 (and data), the tags broadcasted a VHF signal when at the surface. Tags were tracked via handheld
- 23 Yagi antennas attached to R1000 radios as well as an array of antennas connected to a direction-
- finding Horton device which displays the bearing of the received signal.

### 1 2.2.2 Focal Follow

- 2 During tag deployments, the field team conducted focal follows on both whale and ship behavior.
- 3 The whale was tracked using the VHF signal, allowing the research team to remain close to the
- 4 animal. During the focal follow, two team members collected information on the animal's range and
- 5 bearing in relation to the research vessel, in addition to the animal's heading, to re-create the
- 6 animal's track. The other two team members collected data on ships within 5 nautical miles,
- 7 recording distance, bearing, heading, speed, and distance to the focal animal. These were recorded
- 8 every 5 minutes for distant vessels and more often for nearby vessels. Priority was given to small
- 9 vessels not tracked by the Automatic Identification System (AIS).

#### 10 2.2.3 AIS

- 11 AIS is a maritime safety system that requires ships over a certain tonnage to transmit information
- 12 about their location, speed, and course to prevent collisions at sea as a supplement to traditional
- 13 radar. AIS messages are received over VHF channels by base stations along the coast and by
- 14 receivers on other vessels, as well as via satellite. Messages include information about the ship's
- 15 identity, GPS location, course, speed, size, and cargo, among others. All international travelling
- 16 ships above 300 gross tonnage and all passenger ships are required by the International Maritime
- 17 Organization to transmit AIS. During tag deployments we used the research vessel's AIS receiver to
- 18 record positional information from all transmitting ships within range. Positions updated every few
- 19 seconds and were logged to a text file, providing information from large ships but not including
- 20 recreational boats that are not required to transmit AIS.
- 21

### 22 2.3 Data Analysis

### 23 2.3.1 DTAG Processing

Raw DTAG files were converted into depth (pressure), acceleration, and magnetometer readings
using custom-written tools in MATLAB (MathWorks, Inc.). Trigonometric functions were used to
calculate the animal's pitch, roll, and heading from the accelerometer and magnetometer data.

### 27 2.3.2 Lunge detection

28 We detected foraging events by auditing tags in 2-minute blocks using an adaptation of the DTAG 29 audit tool (soundtags.org). The audit plot shows the animal's dive profile, pitch and roll, fluking, jerk 30 (differential of triaxial acceleration), flow noise (calculated in the 1/3 octave band centered at 100 31 Hertz), and spectrogram (Figure 3). Two types of foraging events were detected. Lunge feeding, as 32 has been described in many studies of humpback foraging (e.g., Allen et al. 2016; Friedlaender et al. 33 2013; Goldbogen et al. 2008; Simon et al. 2012), was marked if the animal exhibited two to three 34 fluke strokes, a flow noise peak and drop, and a jerk peak (Figure 3). Because the jerk varies 35 depending on tag placement and tag slides, we considered a jerk peak to be above 2 standard 36 deviations of the average jerk in each 2-minute audit window. Jerk peaks associated with clear 37 lunges easily exceeded this threshold. We also identified rolling foraging events, which we called 38 'rolling lunges,' although they do not exhibit the clear lunge pattern of fluke strokes and increased 39 flow noise (Figure 4). These rolling lunges were detected if the animal exhibited a greater than 50

- 1 degree roll associated with a jerk peak. This behavior appears to be similar to the 'bottom side roll'
- described by Ware et al. 2014. In some cases, impact with the seafloor during the roll was audible
- 3 on the tag, indicating that at least some of these rolling events occur at the bottom. Because this
- 4 extremely shallow environment is very different from other areas in which humpback lunge feeding
- has been described, we could not use all of the criteria often used to classify lunges (e.g., changes
  in depth and vertical speed). We also identified a number of potential lunges in the tag records in
- 6 in depth and vertical speed). We also identified a number of potential lunges in the tag records in
  7 which animals exhibited some, but not all, of our criteria (Figure 5). We marked these as 'potential
- 8 lunge events' and plan to solicit expert opinion from other humpback whale researchers to determine
- 9 if these are also foraging events. In some cases, these potential lunges failed our criteria because
- 10 they did not exhibit an increase and drop in flow noise due to high levels of ship noise masking.
- 11



12

Figure 3. Example of three clear lunges from tag mn20\_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. This figure covers 240 seconds to show the entire dive.

DoN | Behavioral responses of humpback whale to approaching ships, Virginia Beach, VA: 2020 Annual Progress Report



Figure 4. Example of a rolling lunge from tag mn20\_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. The broadband sound at 8790s appears to be the impact of the tag hitting the seafloor. This figure covers 160 seconds to show the entire dive.



5 6 7 8

Figure 5. A potential lunge from tag mn20\_040a. The red horizontal line in the 4th panel indicates the jerk threshold for this section. Flow noise is masked by ship noise and the jerk signal is just over the threshold. This figure covers 100 seconds to show the entire dive.

# 1 3. Results

### 2 3.1.1 Vessel Survey Effort

- 3 Ten days of suction-cup tagging effort were conducted in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes in the
- 4 2019-2020 season, totaling 640 kilometers during 60 hours of survey effort (**Table 1**). Surveys were 5 conducted in Beaufort Sea States 1 to 4.
- 6 Table 1. Vessel survey effort during suction-cup tagging in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes study area in 2019-7 2020.

Date	Sea State	Km surveyed	Survey Time (hrs:min)	At Sea Time (hrs:min)	Platform
15-Jan-20	1-2	67.3	8:54	9:17	R/V R.T. Barber
3-Feb-20	1-2	74.8	8:29	9:11	R/V R.T. Barber
4-Feb-20	2	68.9	6:07	6:57	R/V R.T. Barber
8-Feb-20	2-3	44.2	4:18	5:07	R/V R.T. Barber
9-Feb-20	2	103.7	8:39	9:16	R/V R.T. Barber
10-Feb-20	2-4	35.1	3:10	4:16	R/V R.T. Barber
22-Feb-20	2	40.8	3:56	4:21	R/V R.T. Barber
23-Feb-20	2	109.8	7:51	9:16	R/V R.T. Barber
24-Feb-20	1-3	72.3	6:49	7:30	R/V R.T. Barber
25-Feb-20	3-4	22.0	1:31	2:06	R/V R.T. Barber

8

### 9 3.1.2 Humpback Whale Sightings

- 10 Humpback whales were sighted on 19 occasions totaling 25 whales (**Table 2, Figure 6**). Single
- 11 animals were the most common (14 of 19 sightings), followed by groups of two. No whales were
- 12 observed in groups larger than three animals.

# 13Table 2. Humpback whale sightings observed during suction-cup tagging in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes14study area in 2019–2020.

Date	Time (UTC)	Latitude	Longitude	Species	Common Name	Group Size	Tags Deployed	Photo-ID Images
15-Jan-20	14:40	36.86417	-75.87783	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	2	mn20_015a	730
3-Feb-20	14:55	36.90942	-75.88525	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_034a	313
3-Feb-20	21:18	36.96595	-75.96486	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	43
4-Feb-20	14:49	36.95708	-76.01071	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	107
4-Feb-20	17:39	36.95614	-76.01187	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	2	0	160
4-Feb-20	19:09	36.96656	-76.02108	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	5
8-Feb-20	18:40	36.93834	-75.93129	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	23
8-Feb-20	19:42	36.93120	-75.91381	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	78
8-Feb-20	20:20	36.92272	-75.89685	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	160
9-Feb-20	14:16	36.96866	-76.04811	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_040a	127
9-Feb-20	18:29	36.91082	-75.92914	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_040b	381
10-Feb-20	14:07	36.95796	-76.08530	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_040a (retrieved)	159
22-Feb-20	15:28	36.86006	-75.85291	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_053a	230
23-Feb-20	15:45	37.04255	-75.75531	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	2	0	345
23-Feb-20	17:09	37.01633	-75.72632	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	mn20_054a	355
24-Feb-20	14:46	36.93432	-75.9342	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	32
24-Feb-20	15:24	36.95182	-75.96119	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	1	0	285
25-Feb-20	17:22	36.91949	-75.96233	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	3	0	27
25-Feb-20	17:58	36.90738	-75.92103	M. novaeangliae	Humpback whale	2	0	46





### 4 3.1.3 DTAGs Deployed

5 Six DTAGs were deployed on humpback whales during the 2019–2020 season (**Table 3, Figure 7**).

6 Two tags were deployed on humpbacks already tagged with a satellite tag by HDR, Inc.

7 (mn20\_040a and mn20\_053a). Five tags were deployed in or near the shipping lanes; 1 tag was

8 deployed offshore (mn20 054a). Mn20 015a remained in the shipping lanes for the entirety of the

- 9 deployment and spent most of its time foraging (**Figure 8**). Mn20 034a covered nearly the same
- 10 track as mn20\_015a but showed little foraging behavior (**Figure 9**). Instead, this animal vocalized for
- 11 3.2 hours of the deployment (See Section 3.1.6). A biopsy was not successfully obtained from this
- 12 animal, so its sex is not known. Deployment mn20\_040a lasted 25.5 hours, marking the first
- 13 successful overnight DTAG in this area (**Figure 10**). It showed clear lunges throughout the daytime
- hours, with reduced foraging effort at night (see Section 3.1.5 for detailed foraging description). This
- 15 animal was satellite tagged by HDR (PTT 180779). Mn20\_040b was exhibiting unusual logging
- 16 behavior at the time of tagging. The tag was only attached by two of the four suction cups on the tag,
- 17 complicating analysis of the accelerometry. The animal's dives were very shallow, with unusually
- 18 slow ascents and no clear evidence of foraging (Figure 11). There were several recreational and

- 1 commercial whale-watching boats in the area during the deployment. Given its unusual behavior, the
- 2 field team watched closely for evidence of entanglement, but no gear was apparent. Deployment
- 3 mn20 053a was also satellite tagged by HDR and was programmed as an overnight tag. This
- 4 animal was tagged in the shipping lanes, but soon after tagging, travelled east offshore (Figure 12).
- 5 The focal follow was discontinued due to worsening offshore conditions and the tag was recovered
- 6 the following morning approximately 20 nautical miles offshore after having released from the animal
- 7 7 hours into the deployment. After 3 hours of deployment, the animal breached several times on the
- 8 tag and the acceleration data become unstable after this point, likely caused by one or more suction
- 9 cups becoming dislodged. Mn20 054a was tagged offshore and showed several foraging attempts
- 10 (Figure 13).

11 Table 3. Suction-cup tag information from deployments on humpback whales in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes 12 13 study area in 2019–2020. Deployments mn20\_040a and mn20\_053a were on animals also tagged with satellite tags

by HDR, Inc (PTT 180779 and 180778, respectively.

Date	Time (UTC)	Latitude	Longitude	Species	Tag Type	Tag ID	Duration (hrs:min)
15-Jan-20	15:52	36.8853	-75.8848	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_015a	7:39
3-Feb-20	16:00	36.8915	-75.8759	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_034a	4:37
9-Feb-20	14:26	36.9754	-76.0521	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_040a	25:33
9-Feb-20	18:55	36.8989	-75.9161	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_040b	2:05
22-Feb-20	16:03	36.8616	-75.8336	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_053a	6:58
23-Feb-20	18:09	37.0242	-75.7320	M. novaeangliae	DTAG	mn20_054a	3:05



1 2 3 4

Figure 7. Tagging location and tag recovery location for all suction-cup deployments in the Virginia Beach shipping lanes study area in 2019/20. Each colored line represents the R/V Barber's track during the focal follow

of the animal. Squares indicate locations of tagging and triangles indicate tag recovery locations.









4 Figure 9. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20\_034a.



2 Figure 10. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20\_040a.





4 Figure 11. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20\_040b.







mn20-054a

5

6 Figure 13. Dive-depth profile and accelerometry metrics (pitch, roll, and heading) for tagged animal mn20\_054a.

#### 1 3.1.4 Animal and ship positions

- 2 Focal-follow data were collected throughout most of the tag deployments except times when the
- 3 team attempted to tag additional animals, during overnight hours, or in poor weather conditions.
- 4 Each animal's distance and bearing from the known position of the research vessel were used to
- 5 recreate the animal's position during the follows. Because of issues in decoding, AIS data were
- 6 purchased from the VesselFinder database and used to determine the locations of all large ships
- 7 during the focal follow. Figures 14 through 19 show animal positions from each focal follow along
- 8 with ship tracks that occurred over the same time window. Because of the long deployment
- 9 durations, ship tracks that cross or come near an animal position do not mean that the animal and
- 10 ship were in the same location at the same time.



- 12 13 14 Figure 14. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_015a. Whale positions
- are derived from the focal-follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained
- from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag 15 record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the
- 16 same time.



Figure 15. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_034a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time.



Figure 16. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_040a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any point on the tag

23456 record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and the animal were in the same location at

the same time.



Figure 17. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_040b. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location

at the same time.





Figure 18. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_053a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location

at the same time.



Figure 19. Whale positions (red circles) and ship tracks (green lines) for deployment mn20\_054a. Whale positions are derived from the focal follow distance and bearing and the Barber's GPS track. Ship positions were obtained from the VesselFinder AIS service. Ship locations included are those that overlap in time with any time point on the tag record. Proximity or crossing tracks does not indicate that the ship and animal were in the same location at the same time.

#### 7 3.1.5 Foraging behavior

8 Four of the six animals tagged in 2020 exhibited clear lunges and rolling lunges, as well as 9 numerous potential lunges. For the lunge analysis, we also included the two animals tagged in 2019 10 (mn19\_008a and mn19\_066a). Of the 2019 animals, both exhibited rolling lunges and one exhibited 11 clear regular lunges. We recorded 323 clear lunges from these five animals, ranging from 3 to 193 12 lunges per animal (Table 4). For dives containing a lunge, there was a median of one lunge per dive, ranging from one to seven lunges per dive. Lunges occurred on average at a rate of 6.9 per 13 14 hour (ranging from 0.7 to 13.1 per hour). The deepest lunge occurred at 25.7 meters depth, near the maximum possible depth in this area. On average, lunges occurred at approximately 10 meters 15 16 depth. Animals were oriented nearly horizontally during lunges, with average pitches around -3.6 degrees and roll around -0.4 degrees. Pitch and roll were calculated as the median of the pitch or 17 18 roll over the duration of the lunge. These median pitch angles ranged from -28 to +16 degrees

19 during lunges, while roll ranged from -18 to +14 degrees.

Tag ID	Total number of lunges	Lunges per dive median (range)	Lunges per hour	Depth (meters) median (max)	Median pitch during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Median roll during lunge (degrees) median (range)
mn19_066a	21	1 (1:2)	3.3	12.9 (17.1)	-5.3 (-28:+6)	-0.5 (-10:+14)
mn20_015a	95	1 (1:7)	13.1	8.7 (18.2)	-2.8 (-23:+14)	0.1 (-18:+ 9)
mn20_034a	3	1 (1)	0.7	11.3 (12.1)	-2.0 (-11:0)	-8.7 (-17:-3)
mn20_040a	193	1 (1:5)	7.6	12.9 (25.7)	-4.3 (-22:+16)	-0.7 (-17:+10)
mn20_054a	11	1 (1:2)	3.6	8.5 (10.1)	-1.4 (-10:+2)	-1.9 (-4:+1)
Total	323	1 (1:7)	6.9	10.4 (25.7)	-3.6 (-28:+16)	-0.4 (-18:+14)

Table 4. Lunge characteristics from clear lunges recorded from humpbacks tagged off the coast of Virginia Beach,
 Virginia, in 2019 and 2020.

3

4 Two animals had dive profiles that extended into the night (mn20\_015a and mn20\_040a). For these

5 two deployments, we compared lunge characteristics between daytime and nighttime lunges, but

6 there were too few lunges to support a statistical analysis (**Table 5**). Tag mn20\_015a had 6.5 hours

7 of daytime and 0.86 hours of nighttime data. Mn20\_040a had 12.2 hours of daytime and 13.4 hours

of nighttime data. Overall, there were considerably fewer nighttime lunges (53 in 14.3 hours) than davtime lunges (235 in 19.8 hours). Lunges occurred 3 times more frequently during the day, with

9 daytime lunges (235 in 19.8 hours). Lunges occurred 3 times more frequently during the day, with
10 11.9 lunges per hour during the day compared to 3.7 lunges per hour at night. Lunge depth differed

11 between individuals but showed little diel difference. Likewise, animal orientation was relatively

12 horizontal and showed little difference between daytime and nighttime lunges.

13Table 5. Daytime and nighttime characteristics of lunges recorded from humpbacks tagged off the coast of14Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2020.

Tag ID		Total lunges	Lunges per dive median (range)	Lunges per hour	Depth (meters) median (max)	Median pitch during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Median roll during lunge (degrees) median (range)
mn20_015a	day 87 1 (6.4 hrs) 87 (1:7)		1 (1:7)	13.6	8.75 (18.2)	-2.7 (-23:+14)	0.2 (-18:+9)
	night (0.86 hrs)	8	1 (1:2)	9.3	6.6 (7.7)	-6.2 (-10:+2)	-0.4 (-1:+2)
mn20_040a	day (12.2 hrs)	148	1 (1:5)	12.1	12.3 (25.7)	-5.1 (-21:+9)	-0.2 (-17:+10)
	night (13.4 hrs)	45	1 (1-3)	3.4	13.4 (24.5)	-1.3 (-18:+16)	-3.4 (-9:+4)

15

16 Six animals (2 in 2019 and 4 in 2020) showed rolling behaviors associated with jerk that we describe

17 as 'rolling lunges.' We measured the same parameters for these events as regular lunges, as well as

18 the absolute maximum and minimum roll performed during a lunge by the animal (**Table 6**).

- 1 Because rolls can be performed in either direction, summary statistics do not necessarily capture the
- 2 full picture of the animal's motion.
- 3 There were fewer rolling lunges than regular lunges (n = 57 rolling lunges vs n = 323 regular
- 4 lunges). Dives with rolling lunges had a median of 1 rolling lunge and no more than 3 rolling lunges
- 5 per dive. Rolling lunges ranged from 0.1 to 3.6 lunges per hour and occurred at a median depth of
- 6 10 meters. There was a much larger range in pitch during rolling lunges than regular lunges. Overall,
- 7 the median pitch during all rolls was close to horizontal, but individual rolls ranged from -60° to +73°
- 8 pitch. This indicates that animals were sometimes oriented toward the surface and sometimes
- 9 oriented toward the seafloor during rolling lunges, resulting in the median pitch being averaged to
- 10 zero. Similarly, the overall median roll was 20.9°, but the range of median rolls during individual
- lunges was from -139 to +149°. Therefore, animals are rolling in different directions, averaging out
   the median roll.
- Table 6. Characteristics of rolling lunges recorded from humpbacks tagged off the coast of Virginia Beach,
   Virginia, in 2019 and 2020.

Tag ID	Total number of rolling lunges	Lunges per dive median (range)	Lunges per hour	Depth (meters) median (max)	Median pitch during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Median roll during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Absolute roll (min:max)
mn19_008a	8	1 (1:2)	3.6	6.9 (8.4)	-12.3 (-43:+44)	-10.8 (-99:+110)	-180:+180
mn19_066a	7	1 (1:2)	1.1	14.6 (16.5)	25.5 (-39:+73)	7.9 (-112:+149)	-180:+180
mn20_015a	1	1 (1)	0.1	9.9 (9.9)	-0.4	101.4 (+101:+101)	-12:+141
mn20_034a	6	1 (1:2)	1.3	8.3 (9.3)	-11.7 (-14:+ 3)	29.5 (-64:+44)	-83:+60
mn20_040a	30	1 (1:3)	1.2	12.0 (20.7)	-3.5 (-60:+63)	25.9 (-139:+107)	-180:+180
mn20_054a	5	2 (1:2)	1.62	11.5 (11.7)	-6.3 (-18:+11)	-80.5 (-106:+46)	-180:+179
Total	57	1 (1:3)	1.2	10.3 (20.7)	-3.9 (-60:+73)	20.9 (-139:+149)	-180:+180

16 One animal (mn20\_040a) had rolling lunges during both daytime and nighttime hours (**Table 7**).

17 There were twice as many rolling lunges per hour during the day than at night. Rolling lunges during

18 the day were on average to deeper depths (median 12.3 m) than at night (median 5.6 m), but

19 maxima were similar (18.2 daytime to 20.7 nighttime). This animal appeared to be pitched toward

20 the seafloor more often during daytime lunges and toward the surface more often during nighttime

21 rolling lunges. Individual roll median values were similar between the day and night.

22

23

1 Table 7. Daytime and nighttime characteristics of lunges recorded from humpback mn20\_040a tagged off the coast of Virginia Beach, Virginia, in 2020.

Tag ID		Total number of rolling lunges	Lunges per dive median (range)	Lunges per hour	Depth (meters) median (max)	Median pitch during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Median roll during lunge (degrees) median (range)	Absolute roll (min:max)
mn20_040a	day (12.2 hrs)	19	1 (1:2)	1.6	12.3 (18.2)	-7.3 (-58:+6)	-15.3 (-139:+97)	-180:180
	night (13.4 hrs)	11	1 (1:3)	0.8	5.6 (20.7)	22.2 (-60:+63)	36.6 (-94:+107)	-180:180

- 4 Figures 20 through 27 show dive profiles for all animals with lunges (green stars), potential lunges
- 5 (red stars), and rolling lunges (blue stars) marked. Gray shaded areas indicate nighttime hours.



6

7 Figure 20. Dive profile for mn19\_008a with lunges overlaid.



1

2 Figure 21. Dive profile for mn19\_066a with lunges overlaid.





5 Figure 22. Dive profile for mn20\_015a with lunges overlaid. Shaded area indicates nighttime hours.











1

2 Figure 25. Dive profile for mn20\_040b with lunges overlaid.



4 Figure 26. Dive profile for mn20\_053a with lunges overlaid. Shaded area indicates nighttime hours.



2 Figure 27. Dive profile for mn20\_054a with lunges overlaid.

#### 3 3.1.6 Vocal behavior

4 During audits, we heard vocalizations on one tag deployment (mn20 034a). These tonal sounds 5 appear to contain elements of song and ranged from low-pitched 'woop' calls to high-pitched sounds 6 akin to whistles (Figure 28). The sex of the tagged animal is unknown. Vocalizations occurred at a 7 high rate for 3.2 hours, followed by a 30-minute break before resuming again at a lower rate for 9 8 minutes until the tag came off. Vocalizing dives ranged from 3 to 14 meters with a median of 10 9 meters. Little acceleration occurred during vocalizing, with evidence of few fluke strokes and little 10 jerk signal. Distinct foraging lunges did not appear until after the first vocalization period. During 11 approximately 33 minutes of 10- to 14-meter dives early in the vocalization period, the animal 12 remained pitched downward between -20 and -40 degrees for the entirety of the bottom portion of 13 the dive, a posture similar to that adopted by singers (Au et al. 2006) (Figure 29). Vocalizations 14 were not detected on any other tag.



2

Figure 28. Spectrogram showing range of vocalizations by mn20\_034a.





# 1 4. Discussion and Future Analysis

2 This year we built on the first year's pilot study by deploying six DTAGs. Of these deployments, 3 only three had encounters with ships, precluding extensive analysis of the response to ship 4 approaches. However, many of the animals displayed evidence of foraging, and our analysis 5 this year focused on identifying and describing those foraging events. As cessation of foraging 6 is often considered a response to disturbance, identifying the presence and frequency of 7 foraging events will add another variable to our analysis of ship responses. We assume that 8 foraging opportunities explain why animals are spending time in this area; hence understanding 9 these foraging events is critical to determining the impacts of ship disturbance. We can use 10 deployments without ship approaches as a control to determine how foraging behavior may be 11 affected by ship disturbance.

12 The mouth of the Chesapeake Bay is shallower than most other places in which humpback 13 foraging behavior has been documented; as a result, the acceleration signals we see here are 14 somewhat different from those described elsewhere. As expected, animals in this area appear 15 to lunge in a more horizontal orientation, rather than exhibiting the steep pitch angles seen 16 elsewhere (Goldbogen et al. 2008; Simon et al. 2012). In many cases, they are foraging in water 17 that is barely deeper than the length of their body, making steeply pitched lunges difficult or 18 impossible. Humpbacks in this area also executed fewer lunges per dive than in other areas 19 (Friedlaender et al. 2013; Goldbogen et al. 2008; Simon et al. 2012; Ware et al. 2011). This is 20 likely due to the proximity of the surface and, thus, the low cost of returning to the surface after 21 a few lunges. Foraging behavior occurred less frequently at night than during daytime, and 22 rolling lunges were, on average, shallower at night, although nighttime data are limited. This is 23 in contrast to some other locations where animals forage throughout the day and night 24 (Friedlaender et al. 2009) or primarily at night (Friedlaender et al. 2013; Nowacek et al. 2011). 25 Future work will combine the lunge data from these DTAGs with the synoptic satellite tag 26 locations collected by HDR and available high-resolution bathymetry data to determine whether 27 animals are foraging at the seafloor or in the water column, as well as their exact foraging 28 locations relative to the shipping lanes.

- We also recorded the first evidence of vocalizing humpback whales on this feeding ground, and further analysis of this behavior is warranted. This animal produced a considerable range of vocalization types. No other animals were present while it was vocalizing, and none were heard responding on the tag record, but the calls would have been audible at some range. The vocalizing animal did not appear to forage during the vocalization period and showed little acceleration. It is unclear whether it was swimming slowly or drifting with the current, as it did move some distance during this time.
- 36 We developed several analytical tools this year, including the following:
- conversion of animal distance and bearing from the research vessel into lat/long
   positions
- detecting foraging lunges and other foraging events from accelerometry data streams
   and flow noise on tag records

- 1 Analytical tools currently being developed include the following:
- acoustically detecting ship approaches on tag records, which will also allow for analysis
   of tag records with no focal follows
- tools to deconstruct high-resolution accelerometer and magnetometer data into
  biologically meaningful movement metrics, such as turning rates and overall body
  acceleration.
- 7 Fieldwork is currently being conducted during the 2021 season (January–March) to increase the
- 8 number of tagged whales with ship approaches for analysis. We will continue to prioritize
- 9 coordination with HDR, Inc., to deploy DTAGs on whales equipped with satellite tags. This
- 10 allows us to extend tag deployment durations and deploy overnight DTAGs. In addition, double-
- 11 tagging animals improves the accuracy of location estimates for whales in the vessel response
- 12 project (particularly when tags have been deployed overnight and focal follows are not
- 13 possible), and provides fine-scale information on the diving behavior of satellite-tagged whales.
- 14 Both projects will contribute to ongoing efforts to understand the behavior of juvenile humpback
- 15 whales in the Virginia Beach area and to better understand risk factors and develop potential
- 16 mitigation measures for ship strikes.
- 17

### 18 5. Acknowledgements

19 This project is funded by the U.S. Fleet Forces Command and we thank Joel Bell (Naval

- 20 Facilities Engineering Systems Command Atlantic) for his continued support and guidance of
- 21 this work. We also thank the numerous graduate students who volunteered to help in the field.
- 22 We express our gratitude to Jessica Aschettino and Dan Engelhaupt with HDR, Inc. for
- 23 coordinating with us to facilitate double-tagging already satellite-tagged animals. Additionally,
- we thank Jessica Aschettino and Dan Engelhaupt from HDR, Inc. and Erin Delionbach from
- 25 Duke University for their work in administering this contract. Finally, we thank Sue Barco and
- 26 Sarah Mallette from the Virginia Aquarium and Marine Science Center for providing additional
- 27 volunteers to fill out our crew.
- 28 Research activities were conducted under National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
- 29 Scientific Research Permit 14809 issued to Doug Nowacek, Duke University and General
- 30 Authorization 16185 issued to Andrew Read, Duke University.
- 31
- 32

# 1 6. Literature Cited

2 Allen AN, Goldbogen JA, Friedlaender AS, Calambokidis J. Development of an automated

method of detecting stereotyped feeding events in multisensor data from tagged rorqual whales.
Ecol Evol 2016;6:7522–35. doi:10.1002/ece3.2386.

5 Aschettino JM, Engelhaupt D, Engelhaupt A, Richlen M, DiMatteo A. Mid-Atlantic Humpback

6 Whale Monitoring, Virginia Beach, Virginia: 2017/18 Annual Progress Report. Prep US Fleet

Forces Command Submitt to Nav Facil Eng Command Atl Norfolk, Virginia, under Contract
 N62470-15-8006, Task Order 17F4013, Issued to HDR, Inc, Virginia Beach, Virginia 2018.

9 Aschettino JM, Engelhaupt DT, Engelhaupt AG, DiMatteo A, Pusser T, Richlen MF, et al.

10 Satellite telemetry reveals spatial overlap between vessel high-traffic areas and humpback

11 whales (Megaptera novaeangliae) near the mouth of the Chesapeake Bay. Front Mar Sci

- 12 2020;7:1–16. doi:10.3389/fmars.2020.00121.
- Au WWL, Pack AA, Lammers MO, Herman LM, Deakos MH, Andrews K. Acoustic properties of
   humpback whale songs. J Acoust Soc Am 2006;120:1103–10. doi:10.1121/1.2211547.
- 15 Barco SG, Mclellan WA, Allen JM, Asmutis-Silvia RA, Meagher EM, Pabst DA, et al. Population
- 16 identity of humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the waters of the US mid-Atlantic
- 17 states. J Cetacean Res Manag 2002;4:135–41.
- 18 Christensen I, Haug T, Oien N. Seasonal distribution, exploitation and present abundance of
- 19 stocks of large baleen whales (Mysticeti) and sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) in
- 20 Norwegian and adjacent waters. ICES J Mar Sci 1992;49:341–55.
- 21 Christiansen F, Lusseau D. Understanding the ecological effects of whale-watching on
- cetaceans. In: Higham J, Bejder L, Williams R, editors. Whale-watching Sustain. Tour. Ecol.
   Manag., Cambridge University Press; 2014, p. 177-.
- 24 Clapham PJ, Baraff LS, Carlson CA, Christian MA, Mattila DK, Mayo CA, et al. Seasonal
- occurrence and annual return of humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, in the southern
   Gulf of Maine. Can J Zool 1993;71:440–3. doi:10.1139/z93-063.
- 27 Friedlaender AS, Hazen EL, Nowacek DP, Halpin PN, Ware C, Weinrich MT, et al. Diel changes
- 28 in humpback whale *Megaptera novaeangliae* feeding behavior in response to sand lance
- Ammodytes spp. behavior and distribution. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2009;395:91–100.
- 30 doi:10.3354/meps08003.
- Friedlaender AS, Tyson RB, Stimpert AK, Read AJ, Nowacek DP. Extreme diel variation in the
  feeding behavior of humpback whales along the western Antarctic Peninsula during autumn.
  Mar Ecol Prog Ser 2013;494:281–9. doi:10.3354/meps10541.
- Goldbogen JA, Calambokidis J, Croll DA, Harvey JT, Newton KM, Oleson EM, et al. Foraging
  behavior of humpback whales: kinematic and respiratory patterns suggest a high cost for a
  lunge. J Exp Biol 2008;211:3712–9. doi:10.1242/jeb.023366.
- Götz T, Janik VM. Repeated elicitation of the acoustic startle reflex leads to sensitisation in
  subsequent avoidance behaviour and induces fear conditioning. BMC Neurosci 2011;12:30.
  doi:10.1186/1471-2202-12-30.
- 40 Jensen AS, Silber GK. Large whale ship strike database. 2004. doi:10.1093/nar/gki014.

- Johnson MP, Tyack PL. A digital acoustic recording tag for measuring the response of wild
   marine mammals to sound. IEEE J Ocean Eng 2003;28:3–12. doi:10.1109/JOE.2002.808212.
- Katona S, Baxter B, Brazier O, Kraus S, Perkins J, Whitehead H. Identification of humpback
  whales by fluke photographs. Behav. Mar. Anim. Vol. 3 Cetaceans, 1979, p. 33–44.
- 5 Katona SK, Beard JA. Population size, migrations and feeding aggregations of the humpback
- 6 whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the western North Atlantic ocean. Rep Int Whal Comm 7 1990:295–305.
- 8 Mallette SD, Barco SG. Mid-Atlantic and Southeast Humpback Whale Photo-ID Catalog : 2018
- 9 Annual Progress Report. Prep US Fleet Forces Command Submitt to Nav Facil Eng Command
- 10 Atl Norfolk, Virginia, under Contract No N62470-15-8006, Task Order 18F4032, Issued to HDR,
- 11 Inc, Virginia Beach, Virginia 2019.
- 12 NOAA. 2016-2021 Humpback Whale Unusual Mortality Event along the Atlantic Coast 2021.
- 13 https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/national/marine-life-distress/2016-2021-humpback-whale-
- 14 unusual-mortality-event-along-atlantic-coast (accessed January 28, 2021).
- 15 Nowacek DP, Friedlaender AS, Halpin PN, Hazen EL, Johnston DW, Read AJ, et al. Super-16 aggregations of krill and humpback whales in Wilhelmina bay, Antarctic Peninsula. PLoS One
- 17 2011;6:2–6. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019173.
- 18 Ruegg K, Rosenbaum HC, Anderson EC, Engel M, Rothschild A, Baker CS, et al. Long-term
- 19 population size of the North Atlantic humpback whale within the context of worldwide population
- 20 structure. Conserv Genet 2013;14:103–14. doi:10.1007/s10592-012-0432-0.
- Simon M, Johnson M, Madsen PT. Keeping momentum with a mouthful of water: behavior and
   kinematics of humpback whale lunge feeding. J Exp Biol 2012;215:3786–98.
- 23 doi:10.1242/jeb.071092.
- Smith TD, Allen J, Clapham PJ, Hammond PS, Katona S, Larsen F, et al. An ocean-basin-wide
   mark-recapture study of the North Atlantic humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae). Mar
   Mammal Sci 1999;15:1–32. doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.1999.tb00779.x.
- 27 Stevick PT, Allen J, Bérubé M, Clapham PJ, Katona SK, Larsen F, et al. Segregation of
- migration by feeding ground origin in North Atlantic humpback whales (*Megaptera*
- 29 *novaeangliae*). J Zool 2003;259:231–7. doi:10.1017/S0952836902003151.
- 30 Stevick PT, Allen J, Clapham PJ, Friday N, Katona SK, Larsen F, et al. North Atlantic humpback
- whale abundance and rate of increase four decades after protection from whaling. Mar Ecol
   Prog Ser 2003;258:263–73.
- 33 Stevick PT, Allen J, Clapham PJ, Katona SK, Larsen F, Lien J, et al. Population spatial
- structuring on the feeding grounds in North Atlantic humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*). J Zool 2006;270:244–55. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2006.00128.x.
- 36 Stevick PT, Oien N, Mattila DK. Migratory destinations of humpback whales from Norwegian 37 and adjacent waters: evidence for stock identity. J Cetacean Res Manag 1999;1:147–52.
- 38 Swingle WM, Barco SG, Costidis AM, Bates EB, Mallette SD, Phillips KM, et al. Virginia Sea
- Turtle and Marine Mammal Stranding Network 2016 Grant Report. A Final Rep to Virginia Coast
   Zo Manag Progr Dep Environ Qual Commonw Virginia 2017.
- 41 Swingle WM, Barco SG, Pitchford TD, McLellan WA, Pabst A. Appearance of juvenile

- 1 humpback whales feeding in the nearshore waters of Virginia. Mar Mammal Sci 1993;9:309–15.
- 2 Ware C, Friedlaender AS, Nowacek DP. Shallow and deep lunge feeding of humpback whales
- 3 in fjords of the West Antarctic Peninsula. Mar Mammal Sci 2011;27:587–605.
- 4 doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.2010.00427.x.
- 5 Ware C, Wiley DN, Friedlaender AS, Weinrich M, Hazen EL, Bocconcelli A, et al. Bottom side-
- 6 roll feeding by humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) in the southern Gulf of Maine,
- 7 U.S.A. Mar Mammal Sci 2014;30:494–511. doi:10.1111/mms.12053.
- 8 Watkins WA. Whale reactions to human activities in Cape Cod waters. Mar Mammal Sci 9 1986;2:251–62. doi:10.1111/j.1748-7692.1986.tb00134.x.
- Whitehead H. Updated status of the humpback whale, *Megaptera novaeangliae*, in Canada.
  Can Field-Naturalist 1987;101:284–94.
- 12 Whitehead H, Moore MJ. Distribution and movements of West Indian humpback whales in 13 winter. Can J Zool 1982;60:2203–11. doi:10.1139/z82-282.
- 14 Wiley DN, Asmutis RA, Pitchford TD, Gannon DP. Stranding and mortality of humpback whales,
- 15 *Megaptera novaeangliae*, in the mid-Atlantic and southeast United States, 1985-1992. Fish Bull 16 1995;93:196–205.
- 17